STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

12-29-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2014AP2392-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS.-

COURTNEY E. SOBONYA, Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION FILED ON OCTOBER 23, 2013, AND THE ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF FILED ON SEPTEMBER 24, 2014, IN THE WASHINGTON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD K. MARTENS, PRESIDING. WASHINGTON COUNTY CASE NO. 2013CF205

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND SHORT APPENDIX

Respectfully submitted:

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

I. WHETHER A POST-SENTENCING REPORT SHOWING THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT'S ESPOUSED REASONS FOR DENYING EXPUNGEMENT ARE INCONSISTENT WITH EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE CONSTITUTES A NEW FACTOR WARRANTING SENTENCE MODIFICATION?

Sobonya raised this question in a Wis. Stat. § 809.30 postconviction motion. The circuit court denied her request for modification, and thus answered *no*.

II. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRONEOUSLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION AT SENTENCING WHEN IT DENIED SOBONYA EXPUNGEMENT (1) ON A DETERRENCE THEORY, THE VIABILITY OF WHICH IS CONTRADICTED BY CURRENT EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE AND (2) BASED ON THE COURT'S CATEGORICAL EXCLUSION OF HEROIN CRIMES FROM EXPUNGEMENT, WHICH IS CONTRARY TO THE EXPUNGEMENT STATUTE, WIS. STAT. § 973.015?

Sobonya raised the first part of this question in a Wis. Stat. § 809.30 postconviction motion based on the court's comments at sentencing. The second part of the question derives from the court's postconviction explanation as to why modification was not warranted. The circuit court denied Sobonya's request for sentence modification, and thus answered *no*.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Sobonya does not believe oral argument will be necessary in the instant appeal, as the briefs should sufficiently explicate the facts and law necessary for this Court to reach a decision. However, she would welcome it if the panel believes it would beneficial.

Sobonya does not believe the Court's opinion in the instant case will meet the criteria for publication because resolution of the issues will involve no more than the application of well-settled rules of law and controlling precedent, with no call to question or qualify said precedent. Thus, this case is likely not appropriate for publication and no such request is made.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is about expungement and whether the circuit court erred in not granting it to Courtney Sobonya.

In late November 2012, Sobonya was a back-seat passenger in a vehicle that was stopped by police. (R.1:2.) She was then twenty-three-years-old. (*See* R.1:1 (stating Sobonya's birthdate and date of offense).) She had no criminal record. (R.5:8; A. Ap. 10.) She had earlier moved to Wisconsin for college and studied for two years in Fond du Lac. (*Id.*) After leaving college, she worked continuously in the restaurant field, and she continued to be employed even after her November encounter with police. (*Id.*)

Somewhere in the midst of all that, Sobonya developed a drug problem. (*See* R.5:9, 11; A. Ap. 11, 13.) Her involvement with drugs was the result of a "really, really, bad period of [her] life. Everyone around [her] seemed to be [using drugs]," and she joined in. (R.5:12; A. Ap. 14.) Her friends watched as she "became extremely depressed, and they saw her spiral into using drugs." (R.5:11; A. Ap. 13.)

As a result of that addiction, when police searched the car in which she was riding that November, they found two marijuana pipes, some marijuana, and a variety of other drug-related paraphernalia. (R.1:2.) The most important piece of paraphernalia—as is relevant to the crime of Sobonya's conviction—was a tinfoil square found on the center console that later tested positive for heroin residue. (R.1:2-3.) Other than the tinfoil square, police found no evidence of heroin use. (*See id.*) In Sobonya's purse, police found medication for which she had no prescription and additional marijuana. (*Id.*)

After police searched the car and Sobonya's purse, she freely admitted to possessing her mother's Vicodin and some oxycodone. (*Id.*) She also self-reported that the hard candy in her purse actually contained THC. (*Id.*)

Sobonya was not arrested (*see* R.10:1 (listing no custody credit)), and thereafter voluntarily got involved in medical treatment for her drug use (R.5:9, 12; A. Ap. 11, 14). She saw a psychiatrist and a therapist who worked with her to confront her substance abuse, as well as some underlying anxiety issues. (R.5:9-10; A. Ap. 11-12.) She had no further encounters with the law.

Five-and-a-half months after being stopped by police, the Washington County District Attorney charged Sobonya with five drug-related offenses—three misdemeanors and two felonies. (R.1.) One felony was for her admitted possession of oxycodone. (*Id.*) The other was for possession of heroin, a charge which was derived entirely from the crime lab's identification of heroin residue on the tinfoil square. (*Id.*)

Sobonya was allowed to remain out-of-custody on a signature bond for the period of her prosecution. (R.2.) She was never taken into custody and consistently appeared at court as required. She resolved her case by a guilty plea to the heroin charge. (*See* R.8.) She had negotiated for the remaining four counts to be dismissed and read in at sentencing. (R.5:4; A. Ap. 6.) The parties mutually recommended probation, and the State did not oppose her request for expungement. (R.5:4, 8, 11; A. Ap. 6, 10, 13.)

The State's abbreviated sentencing argument "ask[ed] the court to adopt the recommendation," given that Sobonya had "[n]o prior record" and had "been in counseling." (R.5:8; A. Ap. 10.)

Sobonya's counsel highlighted Sobonya's "constant[]" work history, the de minimus amount of heroin she possessed, her voluntary involvement in drug treatment and AODA counseling, and her success with "random [drug] screens that she voluntarily ha[d] been engaging in since getting into treatment" while her criminal case was ongoing. (R.5:8-10; A. Ap. 10-12.) "Given all those factors," counsel argued that the court should "consider allowing [Sobonya] to come back before [it] at the completion of a successful term of probation . . . and request [expungement]." (R.5:11; A. Ap. 13.)

The circuit court "accepted the recommendation of the parties" and "place[d] [Sobonya] on probation for 24 months, two years." (R.5:13; A. Ap. 15.) However, the court denied Sobonya the opportunity to expunge her conviction. In its entirety, the court court's stated reason for denying expungement is as follows:

There's been a request for special disposition under 973.015. In order to grant the special disposition of expungement or expunction, I have to determine that you would benefit and society would not be harmed by the special disposition.

A number of years ago the legislature expanded the age of offender and the severity of offenses for which expunction could be granted. So I do consider those, the statutory requirement, the statutorily required factors here.

You clearly would benefit by the special disposition; however, I am going to decline to exercise my discretion and grant the special disposition, because I find that society would be harmed. Heroin is such a dangerous, deadly drug, and it's being taken so frequently, by so many people, and so many people are being harmed by this drug, killed by this drug, that I think it's important to, as part of the sentencing, to send a message of deterrence to the community. And I think that message would be undermined by the special disposition here.

So I am not going to order --- I am going to decline the invitation to order expungement of the conviction upon satisfactory completion of the sentence.

(R.5:14-15; A. Ap. 16-17.)

Following her conviction and with new counsel, Sobonya retained Michael Massoglia, the Vilas Associate Professor of Sociology and Director of the Center for Law, Society, and Justice at the University of Wisconsin, to provide her with a report analyzing the viability of the circuit court's stated reasons for denying Sobonya expungement. (See R.22:attached Ex. A.)

Professor Massoglia's subsequent report explained how current and historical research has shown that the severity of punishment is not an effective deterrent to persons other than the one being sentenced. (R.22:attached Ex. A at 2-3.) Additionally, he detailed research showing that not granting Sobonya the opportunity for expungement was more likely to harm society than was granting it to her. (R.22:attached Ex. A at 5-11.) While that research was in existence at the time of Sobonya's sentencing, neither party argued it and the circuit court did not refer to it when espousing its sentencing rationale. (*See* R.5:8-15, A. Ap. 10-17.) To the contrary, the circuit court's stated reasons for denying Sobonya expungement are irreconcilable with the research summarized by Professor Massoglia. (*Compare* R.5:14-15; A. Ap. 16-17 *with* R.22:attached Ex. A at 2-3.)

After receiving Professor Massoglia's report, Sobonya moved the circuit court to modify her sentence. (R.22.) She argued both (1) that Professor Massoglia's report—and especially the research that it presented—was a new factor warranting modification and (2) that its contents demonstrated that denying expungement was the result of an erroneous exercise of discretion. (*Id.*) In light of the empirical evidence, she said, the circuit court could not justify its assertion that denying her expungement would deter the community. (*Id.*)

On either basis, Sobonya requested modification of her sentence to allow expungement upon successful completion of her probation. (*Id.*)

After briefing by the parties, the circuit court issued a decision denying Sobonya's motion.¹ (R.33; A. Ap. 19-31.) In an oral decision, the court first found that "the Massoglia report was not in existence at the time of sentencing" and that "the research on which [it] was based was in existence at the time but was unknowingly overlooked by the parties." (R.33:5; A. Ap. 23.) Based on those findings, the court concluded that "it is a new factor." (*Id.*) However, the court

¹ The circuit court initially denied Sobonya's motion on procedural grounds, concluding that it had not been decided within the sixty-day deadline set forth in Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.30(2)(i). (R.33:2-3; A. Ap. 20-21.) However, somehow unbeknownst to the circuit court (R.33:2; A. Ap. 20), Sobonya had successfully moved this Court to extend that deadline prior to the circuit court's denial of her postconviction motion on procedural grounds (R.28). Following Sobonya's motion to reconsider (R.31), the circuit court withdrew its procedural denial of her motion and decided it on the merits (R.33:2-3; A. Ap. 20-21).

also later concluded that "the report and the contents thereof is not a fact that is highly relevant to the imposition of sentence." (R.33:11, A. Ap. 29.) As will be discussed more fully below in argument, those two conclusions are not mutually sustainable.²

Nonetheless, when ultimately deciding that Sobonya was not entitled to modification, the circuit court explained that, while "the facts and arguments advanced by Professor Massoglia [are] interesting and thought provoking, [they] *are not sufficiently relevant* to justify modification of [Sobonya's] sentence to authorize expungement." (R.33:11; A. Ap. 29 (emphasis added).) In other words, the court relied on its measured relevance of the Massoglia report as the basis for denying modification. (*See id.*)

The circuit court did not specifically address Sobonya's second argument that it abused its discretion when, at sentencing, it asserted deterrence of others as justification for denying Sobonya expungement. However, the court explained that it would not modify Sobonya's sentence because heroin cases are so serious and the criminal justice system's resources for dealing with them so limited that expungement is not appropriate in cases involving it. (See R.5:8-10; A. Ap. 26-28.) Heroin is such a danger to society, explained the court, that expungement should not be used. (Id.) "[A] felony conviction for possession of a narcotic" is "part of the toolbox that [the court] ha[s]" to deal with the "intractable, pervasive problem" "of opiate abuse and opiate offenses in the criminal justice system." (R.5:10; A. Ap. 28.) Expungement would render that tool ineffective. (See R.5:8-10; A. Ap. 26-28).

Sobonya's postconviction motion was denied (R.35; A. Ap. 32), and she appealed (R.37).

² The test for a new factor requires the defendant to prove both (1) the nonexistence or unknowing overlooking of the potential new factor and (2) that the potential new factor is "highly relevant to the imposition of sentence." *State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 38, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828. Thus, a thing that is not highly relevant to the imposition of sentence cannot be a new factor, regardless of whether it meets the other prong of the test.

ARGUMENT

Sobonya makes two arguments below as to why modification is appropriate.

First, she addresses why Massoglia's report is a new factor warranting modification. She contends that the report satisfies the new factor test and justifies modification. She then explains how the circuit court applied the wrong legal standard when deciding that modification was not warranted.

Second, Sobonya argues that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion at sentencing when denying expungement because (1) the stated reasons for denial are contrary to current empirical evidence and (2) the categorical determination that heroin crimes are too serious to allow expungement is contrary to the expungement statutes' clear language.

She offers the following in support with additional facts stated where relevant to the argument.

- I. THE EMPIRICAL EVIDENCE SUMMARIZED IN THE POST-SENTENCING REPORT IS A NEW FACTOR ENTITLING SOBONYA TO MODIFICATION OF HER SENTENCE INSOFAR AS IT SHOWS THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT'S REASONS FOR NOT GRANTING HER EXPUNGEMENT ARE UNTENABLE.
 - A. Rules Governing Sentence Modification Based on a New Factor and Standard of Review

The purpose of sentence modification "is the correction of unjust sentences." *State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 51, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828. A defendant may be entitled to sentence modification if he or she can "demonstrate both the existence of a new factor and that the new factor justifies modification of the sentence." *Id.* ¶ 38. A new factor is "a fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because, even though it was then in existence,

it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties." *Rosado v. State*, 70 Wis. 2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69, 73 (1975). It is not independently necessary for the alleged new factor to frustrate the purpose of the original sentence. *Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 52 ("withdraw[ing] any language from [*State v.*] *Michels*[, 150 Wis. 2d 94, 441 N.W.2d 278 (Ct. App. 1989),] and the cases following *Michels* that suggests" to the contrary).

Whenever a defendant asks for sentence modification based on a new factor, there are two parts to the analysis: the existence component and the justification component. Harbor, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 36-37. The existence component is itself divided into two subparts: (1) was the purported new factor not in existence or unknowingly overlooked by the parties at sentencing AND (2) was the purported new factor highly relevant to the imposition of sentence. Rosado, 70 Wis. 2d at 288, 234 N.W.2d at 73. The second part of the new factor test-the justification component-has the court consider whether the new factor-if indeed one is of a defendant's recognized—warrants modification sentence. *Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 37.

Consideration of the new factor analysis's two parts need not be done in order. *Id.* ¶ 38. Indeed, if a court can dispose of a new factor claim by finding either (1) that no new factor exists or (2) that modification is unwarranted, then it is not necessary for the court to engage in the additional inquiry. *Id.* However, for modification, a defendant must succeed on both prongs. *Id.* ¶ 36.

On review, the question of "[w]hether a fact or set of facts . . . constitutes a 'new factor' is a question of law" that appellate courts review "independently of the determinations rendered by the circuit court." *Id.* ¶ 33. "Whether that new factor justifies sentence modification" is reviewed "for erroneous exercise of discretion." *Id.* "A circuit court erroneously exercises its discretion if it makes an error of law or neglects to base its decision upon facts in the record." *King v. King*, 224 Wis.2d 235, 248, 590 N.W.2d 480, 485 (1999). Reversal for erroneous exercise is appropriate where the "circuit court applied the wrong legal standard or did not

ground its decision on a logical interpretation of the facts." State v. Canady, 2000 WI App 87, \P 6, 234 Wis. 2d 261, 610 N.W.2d 147.

B. The Information set Forth in the Postsentencing Report Constitutes a New Factor in the Instant Case.

First, it is undisputed that the information in Massoglia's report was "not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing" because "it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties." *Rosado*, 70 Wis. 2d at 288, 234 N.W.2d at 73. The postconviction court found as a matter of fact that the report itself was not in existence at sentencing and that the research that it explains was unknowingly overlooked by the parties. (R.33:5; A. Ap. 23.)

A review of the record shows that those findings are not clearly erroneous. *State v. Jenkins*, 2014 WI 59, ¶ 38, 355 Wis. 2d 180, 848 N.W.2d 786 (postconviction court's factual findings are reviewed for clear error). The court made no mention at sentencing of the research detailed in Professor Massoglia's report, and it admitted during its oral ruling that it was "not aware of the specific studies cited" therein. (R.33:8; A. Ap. 26.) Additionally, neither the State nor Sobonya's attorney argued the current social science research to the court.

At sentencing, the State took no position, and thus made no argument regarding expungement. Sobonya's counsel argued for expungement based solely on her client's pre-sentencing behavior and desire to have a crime-free future. Counsel made no specific argument regarding how granting Sobonya expungement would avoid societal harm, and she certainly made no mention of the empirical evidence that is set forth in Professor Massoglia's report. The record thus demonstrates that all parties to the hearing—including the court—"unknowingly overlooked" the information presently set forth in Professor Massoglia's report. *See Rosado*, 70 Wis. 2d at 288, 234 N.W.2d at 73.

Second, the information in the report is "highly relevant to the imposition of sentence." *Id.* At sentencing, the circuit court expressly denied Sobonya expungement because it believed that so doing would deter the community from future crimes, and thereby prevent society from being harmed:

> I am going to decline to exercise my discretion and grant the special disposition, because I find that society would be harmed. Heroin is such a dangerous, deadly drug, and it's being taken so frequently, by so many people, and so many people are being harmed by this drug, killed by this drug, that I think it's important to, as part of the sentencing, to send a message of deterrence to the community. And I think that message would be undermined by the special disposition here.

> So I am not going to order --- I am going to decline the invitation to order expungement of the conviction upon satisfactory completion of the sentence.

(R.5:14-15; A. Ap. 16-18 (emphasis added).)

The sentencing court's clear language thus shows that the deterrent effect of denying Sobonya expungement was highly relevant to the sentence it imposed. The circuit court unequivocally stated at sentencing that it would not grant Sobonya expungement because, if it did, the intended "message of deterrence to the community . . . would be undermined" and "society would [thereby] be harmed." (*Id*.)

It is thus apparent from the sentencing hearing transcript that deterring the community at large from involvement with heroin was the circuit court's only reason for denying Sobonya expungement. The effectiveness of the circuit court's purported deterrent effect is thus not only highly relevant to the imposition of Sobonya's sentence, but is the entire purpose behind the imposition of that part of her sentence denying expungement.

The contents of Massoglia's report therefore go to the very heart of the sentencing court's espoused sentencing rationale: if the court was wrong and granting Sobonya expungement would actually not deter the community at large, then the circuit court's only stated reason for denying it would be unjustifiable. Massoglia's report is therefore highly relevant to the imposition of Sobonya's sentence because it applies to her case existing empirical evidence showing that the community is unlikely to be deterred by denying her expungement and will not be harmed by granting it to her.

For all those reasons, Sobonya can satisfy both parts of the existence component, and the information contained in Professor Massoglia's report constitutes a new factor in the instant case. *See Rosado*, 70 Wis. 2d at 288, 234 N.W.2d at 73. She urges this Court to reach the same conclusion.

The next component of the new factor test asks whether Massoglia's report justifies modification of Sobonya's sentence. On review, this Court must decide whether the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion when denying Sobonya's requested modification in light of her identified new factor. She argues that it did.

C. The Circuit Court Applied the Wrong Legal Standard When Denying Sobonya's Request for Modification.

In the instant case, the circuit court erred in its application of the new factor analysis. It first concluded that Sobonya had satisfied the existence component solely because (1) "the Massoglia report was not in existence at the time of sentencing" and (2) "the research on which [it] was based was in existence at the time but was unknowingly overlooked by the parties." (R.33:5, A. Ap. 23). When deciding the existence component, the circuit court did not consider, as it should have, whether Massoglia's report and its contents were highly relevant to the imposition of Sobonya's sentence.

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