RECEIVED

04-06-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Appeal No. 2014AP2392-CR (Washington County Cir. Ct. Case No. 2013CF205)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

COURTNEY E. SOBONYA,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF EN-TERED IN WASHINGTON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD K. MARTENS PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT STATE OF WISCONSIN

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

CHRISTOPHER G. WREN Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1013313

Attorneys For Plaintiff-Respondent State of Wisconsin

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION WHEN THE COURT REJECTED THE UW-MADISON PROFESSOR'S REPORT AS A NEW FACTOR.

Sobonya contends that a defense-commissioned report by UW-Madison Professor Michael Massoglia qualified as a new factor, *see* Sobonya's Brief at 9-11; that the circuit court used the wrong legal standard when denying her sentence-modification motion, *id.* at 11-13; and that her motion

satisfied both statutory criteria for expungement, *id.* at 14-15.

This court should affirm the circuit court's decision denying Sobonya's sentence-modification.

At the combined change-of-plea and sentencing hearing (5), the State did not take a position on expungement (5:4 ("We are taking no position on any request for expunction or expungement.")). Defense counsel asked the court for expungement:

I am asking the Court, based upon all of that, to consider allowing her to come back before the Court at the completion of a successful term of probation, which I anticipate here, and request expunction, given all of those factors, given the small amount of heroin, and given how proactive she's been in addressing these issues.

(5:11.) The court noted the authority for expungement in this case: "And I also note you are statutorily of age to ask for expungement, and also that this offense is one for which expunction can be granted" (5:13). The court chose, however, not to grant expungement:

There's been a request for special disposition under 973.015. In order to grant the special disposition of expungement or expunction, I have to determine that you would benefit and society would not be harmed by the special disposition.

A number of years ago the legislature expanded the age of offender and the severity of offenses for which expunction could be granted. So I do consider those, the statutory requirement, the statutorily required factors here.

You clearly would benefit by the special disposition; however, I am going to decline to exercise my discretion and grant the special disposition, because I find that society would be harmed. Heroin is such a

dangerous, deadly drug, and it's being taken so frequently, by so many people, and so many people are being harmed by this drug, killed by this drug, that I think it's important to, as part of the sentencing, to send a message of deterrence to the community. And I think that message would be undermined by the special disposition here.

So I am not going to order -- I am going to decline the invitation to order expungement of the conviction upon satisfactory completion of the sentence.

(5:14-15.)

So, although the circuit court agreed that Sobonya would benefit from expungement (thus satisfying the first statutory criterion), the court decided that expungement would harm society by undermining the important message of deterrence the sentencing should send in this case (5:14 (court declaring "I find that society would be harmed," thus determining that expungement would not satisfy second statutory criterion that "society would not be harmed by the special disposition")).

In response to Sobonya's postconviction sentence-modification motion, the State maintained its neutrality on expungement (24:2 ("The State took and currently does not take any position on the defendant's request for expungement.")). The State contended, however, "that the trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying the defendant's expungement request under Sec. 973.015, Stats." (24:2). The State continued:

Given all the facts and circumstances surrounding this case, the trial court properly exercised its discretion and applied the factors required under the <u>Gallion</u> case. The defendant cannot met her burden. Merely because there is a report from a doctor re-

garding his opinion that the [] defendant should be granted expungement does not mean this is an abuse of discretion. The State would argue the report is not a new factor under Rosado v. State, 70 Wi.s 2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69, 73 (1957). The defendant simply has not met her burden.

(24:2.)

In its oral ruling (33), the circuit court expressed doubt about the susceptibility of expungement to modification:

The first concern I have here is whether expungement of a conviction on satisfactory completion of a sentence is even part of a sentence that can be modified. The McClearly and Gallion sentencing factors are not factors that are employed or considered when a Court decides whether to grant expungement. Instead, the balancing test that is laid out on the text of section 973.015 is the analysis that a Court has to employ in determining whether it's appropriate to grant expungement. So I am not sure that a motion for sentence modification is the right motion. The Defendant is, essentially, asking the Court to draft a new factor sentence modification analysis onto a decision that I am supposed to make under section 973.015 and the balancing test therein.

(33:4.) Instead, the court said, a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel probably fit the situation better:

I think that the Defendant's arguments would fit more comfortably into an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, essentially, that the trial attorney was ineffective for failing to bring the Massoglia, . . . research to the Court's attention and argue it when the attorney was seeking expunction at the time of sentencing. And then if trial counsel was found to be ineffective, then the Defendant would get resentenc-

ing, and the Court would need to consider the Massoglia research and the paper that was filed with the Court in support of the Defendant's motion for sentence modification here.

(33:4-5.)

Despite its reservations, the court addressed Sobonya's sentence-modification motion as raising a new-factor issue⁴ and applied new-factor analysis to the motion:

I'll accept that the Massoglia report was not in existence at the time of sentencing, and I'll also accept that the research on which the Massoglia report was based was in existence at the time but was unknowingly overlooked by the parties. So it is a new factor, but that's not the end of the analysis. Is this new factor, the Massoglia research and the opinions contained therein, is that a fact that's highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, and does it justify sentence modification, in essence expungement?

(33:5.) The court reiterated, in more detail, its reasons for denying expungement (33:6-9, 10-11). More particularly, the court said:

I believe at sentencing, and I still believe now after having considered Counsel's arguments and the report of Professor Massoglia, that community awareness of the dangers of opiate use and opiate addiction needs to increase, that the community needs to understand and that the criminal justice system treats these offenses seriously. I think that

When a defendant asserts that the a new factor warrants sentence modification, the defendant invokes the circuit court's inherent authority to modify a sentence: "[A] court has the inherent authority to modify a sentence if a new factor is presented." *Crochiere*, 273 Wis. 2d 57, ¶ 12.

expungement would undermine that sentencing objective in this case. And although I was not aware of the specific studies cited by Professor Massoglia, I am aware now and I was aware at the time of sentencing that there was research to suggest that harsh penalties may not deter offenders from offending. Offenders commit violations for all sorts of reasons, and they choose not to commit offenses for all sorts of reasons. So I am aware of that social science research that suggests that harsh penalties alone may not have a deterrent effect, or at least a significant deterrent effect. However, commonsense and -but I can also use my commonsense, and I can also consider my experience, and anecdotal though it may be, in 23 years of being involved in the criminal justice system, that suggests that the sanctions that are imposed and penalties that are imposed and consequences that are suffered may deter individuals from offending. This is an issue about which reasonable minds may differ.

(33:8-9.)

I gave careful consideration of the Defendant's request for expungement of the record on successful completion of the sentence. I certainly hope Ms. Sobonya does successfully complete probation and stays off of drugs. However, after carful consideration of Dr. Massoglia's report, I find that it is not the report and the contents thereof is not a fact that is highly relevant to the imposition of sentence in this case. Relevant, yes, but at the time of sentencing I was aware, as I said earlier, in general terms, of the arguments contained in the report, that harsh penalties don't necessarily have a deterrent effect, the positive effects of employment and good family on recidivism rates, and the other arguments that were advanced in the professor's paper.

I think now, having read that paper, that the facts and arguments advanced by Professor Massoglia, while interesting and thought provoking, are not sufficiently relevant to justify modification of the Defendant's sentence to authorize expungement. The

State of Wisconsin

opinions and arguments of a social scientist, and the research done by him and others in his field are just that, opinions and arguments. The Court is still entitled to its own opinion and is not required to accept in total or in part the opinion advanced by any experts. So I find that the Defendant has failed to establish the existence of a new factor relevant or probative enough to justify sentence modification in the form of expungement. So the Defendant's motion is hereby denied for the reasons that I previously stated.

(33:10-11.)

If sentence modification can embrace a request to grant an expungement denied at the time of sentencing (the point at which the special-disposition statute requires the sentencing court make the decision),⁵ the circuit court properly exercised its discretion. The court acknowledged the Massoglia report did not exist at the time of sen-

If this court determines that it requires a more detailed treatment of this issue, the State recommends that the court order supplemental briefing by the parties. The State notes that in *State v. Matasek*, 2014 WI 27, 353 Wis. 2d 601, 846 N.W.2d 811, the supreme court specifically stated that it did not address "whether a circuit court has inherent power to order expunction of a record when the circuit court cannot expunge the record under Wis. Stat. § 973.015," *id.* ¶ 6 n.4.

⁵ The State shares the circuit court's concern that expungement does not fit easily within the scope of a sentence-modification motion that invokes the court's inherent authority (33:4, 5). But for purposes of this appeal — and for this appeal only — the State assumes that Sobonya's motion properly used new-factor sentence modification as the basis for seeking reconsideration of the circuit court's original decision to deny expungement.

tencing and "that the research on which the Massoglia report was based was in existence at the time but was unknowingly overlooked by the parties" (33:5). But new-factor analysis also requires that the circuit judge not know, "at the time of original sentencing," the "fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of sentence." Crochiere, 273 Wis. 2d 57, ¶ 14 (quoting Rosado 70 Wis. 2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69 (1975)). Here, although the court did not know could not know — about the Massoglia report itself and "was not aware of the specific studies cited by Professor Massoglia" (33:8), the court "was aware at the time of sentencing that there was research to suggest that harsh penalties may not deter offenders from offending" (33:8). Consequently, the court knew "at the time of original sentencing," even if the parties did not, that a debate existed about the deterrent effect of harsh sentences. The court's timely knowledge that a harsh sentence might not deter (the principal point for which Sobonya highlights the Massoglia report) precludes the report or the underlying studies from qualifying as a new factor.

In addition, the court disagreed with Professor Massoglia's implicit assumption that withholding a sentence and placing Sobonya on two years of probation (5:13; 10) amounts to a "harsh" sentence (33:7 ("I dispute the characterization made by . . . Massoglia page 12, that long periods of probation qualify as a harsh sentence."); see also 22:Ex. A, at 3, 4, 5, 12 (Massoglia report referring to "harsh" penalties, sentences, or sentencing policies)). In effect, the court rejected Professor Massoglia's report to the extent it equated Sobonya's probation with "harsh" sentencing. As the court noted, "I

could have sent the Defendant to prison for three and a half years and fine[d] the Defendant up to \$10,000. The Defendant, as part of a plea agreement, had another felony and three other misdemeanors dismissed and read-in at sentencing" (33:6-7). Put another way, Professor Massoglia's report addressed a set of "harsh" sentencing policies that did not, in fact, come into play in this case: the court could have actually incarcerated Sobonya but instead accorded her a term of probation that allowed her to continue working and to participate in rehabilitation efforts. 6

The circuit court did not have any obligation to accord Professor Massoglia's report the same significance Sobonya attaches to it. Cf. In re Com*mitment of Brown*, 2005 WI 29, ¶¶ 88–89, 279 Wis. 2d 102, 693 N.W.2d 715 ("[C]ourts are not rubber stamps for expert testimony. Neither a circuit court nor a reviewing court is required to accept an expert's ultimate conclusion. The circuit court may accept or reject expert testimony "); First Nat'l Bank v. Wernhart, 204 Wis. 2d 361, 369, 555 N.W.2d 819, 822 (Ct. App. 1996) (factfinder not bound by the opinion — even uncontradicted opinion — of any expert witness). As the circuit court's remarks in the oral decision show, the court regarded Professor Massoglia's report as "[r]elevant, yes," but not "highly relevant to the imposition of sentence in this case" (33:11).

⁶ Essentially, Sobonya received a sentencing gift from the circuit court and now complains, via her sentencemodification motion and accompanying Massoglia report (22), that the court erroneously exercised its discretion by not giving her a larger gift.

Because Sobonya's sentence-modification motion depended on the circuit court accepting Professor Massoglia's report as a new factor (i.e., as "highly relevant" to the sentencing decision), and because the circuit court, after reviewing the sentencing transcript and Professor Massoglia's report (33:3, 5), exercised its authority to weigh the significance of the report and, having done so, found the report wanting for purposes of newfactor analysis, the court properly exercised its discretion and held that Sobonya had not presented a new factor warranting sentence modification. Because the circuit court properly exercised its discretion when denying Sobonya's sentencemodification motion, this court should affirm that decision.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT HAVE AN OBLIGATION TO ACCEPT THE OPINIONS AND CONCLUSIONS OF THE UW-MADISON PROFESSOR'S REPORT AND THEREFORE DID NOT HAVE AN OBLIGATION TO REJECT DETERRENCE AS A PROPER PURPOSE FOR SENTENCING.

Sobonya argues that if this court disagrees with her contention that the Massoglia report qualifies as a new factor, the court should hold that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion because "the Court reached a conclusion that is contrary to current research and empirical evidence." Sobonya's Brief at 16. See generally id. at 15-17.

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